
 

*In accordance with GVR Bylaws, all meetings of the Board at which official business of The Corporation is transacted, with the exception of meetings limited to personnel and/or legal matters, shall be open to all members 
of The Corporation. An executive session “placeholder” is added to each Regular Meeting Board agenda should the Board have personnel and/or legal matters to address. Meetings shall be governed by Roberts Rules of Order 
unless otherwise determined by the Board of Directors. 

 
 
 

 
 

AGENDA 
 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING 
Wednesday, June 23, 2021; 2pm 
West Center Auditorium & Zoom 

 
 

 

Directors:  Mike Zelenak (President),  Nina Campfield (Vice President), Ted Boyett (Secretary), 
Donna Coon (Treasurer), Mark McIntosh (Assistant Secretary), Randy Howard (Assistant Treasurer), 
Kathi Bachelor, Carol Crothers, Christine Gallegos, Bart Hillyer, Bev Lawless, Don Weaver 
Scott Somers (non-voting) 
 

AGENDA TOPIC PRESENTER EXHIBIT ACTION 
 

1. Call to Order / Roll Call – Establish Quorum Zelenak Y  
 

2. Adopt Agenda Zelenak Y Y 
 

3. CEO Report Somers 
 

4. Consent Agenda Zelenak Y Y 
A. Minutes – May 26, 2021 
B. Financial Statements – May 2021 

 

5. New Business 
A. East Center African Daisies Jund Y Y 
B. Amended and Restated Bylaws Campfield Y Y 
C. GVR Clubs: EIN Numbers update to CPM Campfield Y Y 

 

6. Committee Reports 
A. Audit Weaver 
B. Board Affairs Campfield 
C. Fiscal Affairs Coon 
D. Investments Lawless 
E. Nominations & Elections McIntosh 
F. Planning & Evaluation Boyett / Campfield 

 

7. Member Comments 
 

8. Adjournment   
 



 

 

  A regular meeting of the GREEN VALLEY RECREATION, INC. BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
was held Wednesday, May 26, 2021 in the West Center Auditorium. The President being in the 
chair and the Secretary being present. 

 

Directors Present: Mike Zelenak (President), Nina Campfield (Vice President), Ted Boyett 

(Secretary), Donna Coon (Treasurer), Mark McIntosh (Assistant Secretary), Randy Howard 

(Assistant Treasurer), Kathi Bachelor, Carol Crothers, Christine Gallegos, Bart Hillyer, Bev 

Lawless, Don Weaver, Scott Somers (CEO, non-voting) 

 

Staff Present: Cheryl Moose (CFO), David Webster (Director of Accounting), David Jund 

(Facilities Director), Kris Zubicki (Recreation Services Director), Randy Cheatham (IT Director), 

Shelley Freeman (Arts & Entertainment Supervisor), Natalie Whitman (Communications 

Manager), Payton Snider (IT Administrator), Karen Miars (AO Administrative Assistant), Marie 

Seixas (Meeting Scribe) 

 

Guests: Debra Edwards (Parliamentarian), 19 in-house/17 electronically (both include additional 

staff) 

 

1. Call to Order/Roll Call – Establish Quorum 

President Zelenak called the meeting to order at 2:00pm MST. Secretary Boyett called the 

roll and a quorum was established. 

 

2. Adopt Agenda 

Director Campfield requested that the agenda be amended to add one item to New Business 

5F) Bike Lane Support Letter to County. 

 

MOTION: Campfield/2nd. Amend the agenda to add one item to New Business 5F) 

Bike Lane Support Letter to County. 

Passed: unanimously 

 

MOTION: Campfield/2nd. Adopt agenda as amended. 

Passed: unanimously 

 

3. CEO Report 

CEO Somers reported: 

 Survey mailings were sent to approximately 23,000 members. 1,600 responses have 

been returned to date. Deadline to receive return surveys is June 6, 2021. 

 On June 3rd at 7:00pm, Jason Love, comedian, will perform at the West Center 

 GVR Pool Flicks will be held each during the month of June at 7:00pm. Entry is free of 

charge. Capacity of pool area is 240. Films will include: June 10 – Jaws; June 17 – 

Splash; June 24 – NL’s Vacation; July 1 – Weekend at Bernie’s 

 Indoor movies will be held at 2:00 and 7:00 pm on May 27 – News of the World; June 

8 – Call of the Wild; and June 22 – Blinded by the Light at the West Center Auditorium. 

Entry is free of charge. Capacity is limited. 



 

 

 He introduced parliamentarian, Debra Edwards, a GVR member who agreed to sit in on 

BOD meetings to provide meeting conduct support. 

 

4. Consent Agenda 

A. Minutes – April 28, 2021 

 

B. Financial Statements – April 2021 

 

MOTION: McIntosh/2nd. Approve minutes of April 28, 2021 and Financial 

Statements of April 2021 as presented. 

Passed: unanimously 

 

5. New Business 

A. Annual Surplus Calculation – David Webster presented, with staff recommending that 

the Board accept and approve Susan Vos’s recommendations for calculating the year end 

surplus/loss as presented. 

 

MOTION: Coon/2nd. Move to approve Susan Vos’s recommendations for calculating 

the year end surplus/loss as presented. – Discussion followed. 

 

Director Crothers requested that the following comments be added to the minutes: 

 

“Because this has been a point of discussion, and I very much appreciate Susan’s 

comments this morning, she stated very clearly, and I think we all agreed, that her 

previous calculations were as valid as this new calculation. What’s changed is that we are 

now paying for capital expenditures directly out of our reserve account. So, what we 

agreed this morning was that we are going to show a transition from the way we had 

calculated in the past for 2019 and 2020 to this new calculation, that should be valid as 

long as we pay for our capital expenditures out of our reserve.” 

 

Director McIntosh requested that the following comments be added to the minutes: 

 

“I would like to put in the record that we also agreed to put this to bed after Susan Vos 

looks at 2019 and 2020 and brings it back to the Board Affairs Committee and to the 

Board.” 

 

VOTE ON MOTION – Passed: unanimously 

 

B. Create Major Asset Replacement Reserve Fund – David Webster presented, with staff 

recommending that the Board approve the creation of a Major Asset Replacement Reserve 

Fund. 

 

MOTION: Coon/2nd. Move the Board of Directors approve the creation of a Major 

Asset Replacement Reserve Fund. – Discussion followed. 

Passed: Yes – 8; No – 4 (Bachelor, Crothers, Gallegos, Hillyer) 

 

 Director Crothers requested that the following comment be added to the minutes: 

 



 

 

“I would like it noted that the motion that was just passed was not the motion that came 

out of the Fiscal Affairs Committee.” 

 

**Debra Edwards left the meeting at 3:15pm. 

 

C. East Center Pool Design – David Jund presented, with staff recommending that the 

Board move to direct staff to pursue finalizing construction/bid documents and seek 

proposals for the construction of Option #1 of the East Center Pool Replacement Project. 

 

MOTION: Bachelor/2nd. Move that staff be directed to pursue finalizing 

construction/bid documents and seek proposals for the construction for Option #1 

of the East Center Pool Replacement Project and to seek competing bids from three 

(3) qualified commercial swimming pool contractors and present submitted 

proposals to the Board of Directors for consideration and award. 

Passed: Yes – 11; No – 1 (McIntosh) 

 

D. Pickleball Center Shade Structure Reimbursement – CEO Somers presented, asking 

the Board to consider reimbursement of $17,324.73 to the GVR Pickleball Club for a shade 

structure at the GVR Pickleball Center as originally noted in the meeting minutes of 

August 26, 2020. 

 

MOTION: Campfield/2nd. Move to reimburse the GVR Pickleball Club $17,324.73 for 

the cost and installation of a shade structure at the GVR Pickleball Center. – 

Discussion followed. 

Passed: Yes – 7; No – 5 (Bachelor, Coon, Crothers, Hillyer, Weaver) 

 

E. Square and Round Dance Club Guest Fee Reduction – Vice President Campfield 

presented, noting that it is in the CPM that this type of request be made every year to the 

Board. The Board Affairs Committee will be looking at modifying this language. 

 

MOTION: Campfield/2nd. Move that the Board of Directors approve guest fees for 

Square and Round Dance Club from $4 to $2 for the remainder of 2021. 

Passed: Yes – 11; No -1 (Weaver) 

 

F. Bike Lane Support Letter to County – CEO Somers presented, asking for approval 

from the Board to send the presented support letter to the County. 

 

MOTION: Crothers/2nd. Move that Board President Zelenak and CEO Somers sign the 

letter presented, urging the County to add bike lanes on Camino de la Canoa, the 

busy road to the Pickleball Center and ballpark. – Discussion followed. 

 

Director Weaver asked that the following be added to the letter – “We are requesting that 

additional funds be allocated for this project. Please find funds to add to this project from 

another budget.” 

 

VOTE ON MOTION: Passed: unanimously 

 

6. Committee Reports 

A. Audit Committee – Chair Weaver noted this committee’s first meeting will be in July. 



 

 

 

B. Board Affairs Committee – Chair Campfield stated the committee has met and has 

subcommittees working on protocol for communications and CPM wordings on various 

topics. 

 

C. Fiscal Affairs Committee – Chair Coon announced that financials are available on the 

website for member review and gave a brief overview of said financials. 

 

D. Investments Committee – Chair Lawless announced that this committee will be 

meeting quarterly, unless otherwise necessary. The summary of investments is posted on 

the website. 

 

E. Nominations & Elections Committee – Chair McIntosh announced the committee set to 

begin work and will determine how they will go forward. He plans to schedule a meeting 

for next month. 

 

F. Planning & Evaluation Committee – Co-Chair Boyett stated that the big topic for 

discussion at the last meeting was a dog park proposal. The Facilities Department will be 

looking at this. A sub-committee was formed to review and assess project evaluation 

criteria. 

 

President Zelenak made a request of Board members that, going forward at future meetings, 

each individual let the President know when they have finished speaking and relinquish the floor. 

 

7. Member Comments – on-line comments were addressed during the meeting and two 

individuals were heard on the floor of the meeting. 

 

Director Lawless noted that there were a couple of comments made during the meeting that 

were not necessary and that we should be doing better on respecting each other’s opinions. 

 

8. Adjournment 

 

MOTION: Campfield/2nd. Motion to adjourn at 4:17pm MST. 

Passed: unanimously 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 













Green Valley Recreation, Inc. 

Board of Directors Meeting 

 
Prepared By: David Jund, Facilities Director Meeting Date: June 23, 2021 

Presented By: David Jund, Facilities Director Consent Agenda: No 

 

 

Originating Committee / Department: Facilities Department 
 

Action Requested: Direct staff to decrease the African daisy coverage area at 
East Center and substitute with xeriscape landscaping. 
 

Strategic Plan Focus Area: GVR Services 
 

Background Justification: 
For 3-4 weeks in late spring every year, the African daisies at East Center are in 
full bloom and span at least 80% of the center’s landscaping. For the remaining 
11 months, after the blooming season concludes, the center becomes visually 
unappealing (example #1 and example #2). 
 
This is due to several factors:  

 Once the blooming season is over, the daisies go dormant and their 
appearance becomes dry and stick-like. (Example #1) 

 Supporting the daisies means that 80% of the center cannot be treated by 
a re-emergent to prevent weed growth. 

 Hand-picking the weeds and dead or dormant daisies is incredibly labor 
intensive. Example: it takes the entire Landscape crew 2-3 full workdays 
to hand-pick, remove, and cleanup the daisy coverage areas.  

 The current gravel and landscape cloth prevent removal of dead stems 
and weeds by use of tools. 

 Within two weeks of completely weeding the daisy areas new weed 
growth becomes visibly noticeable again. 

 
For the past couple of years, in order to stay ahead of the rapid regrowth of 
weeds, GVR has contracted for weed removal and cleanup of the daisy areas 
during the four monsoon months (July -October). This contracted service costs 
GVR $17,000.  
 
  



Background Justification: continued 
 
Staff has been implored by members to increase the monthly weeding and 
clean up by an additional 3 months per year. This would bring the contracted 
costs close to $40,000 annually. 
 
An additional annual cost of $1200 - $1500 for seed and fresh soils are part of 
supporting the African Daisies at their current status. 
 
GVR plans to continue supporting the African daisies at East Center for their 
annual visual impact. However, we wish to do so in designated areas and within 
a narrower scope of coverage area. Designated areas will be intentionally 
located to maintain the traditional springtime ambiance of East Center. 
 
With designated areas for the daisies, GVR can greatly reduce annual costs, 
water consumption and the labor it takes to maintain the center.  
 
Consciously planning and installing xeriscape landscaping similar to neighboring 
properties in place of the large areas of daisies will drastically reduce water 
usage. These changes will also allow the landscaping to be manageable by GVR 
staff and contracted services for weeding and cleanup will no longer be needed. 
 
Fiscal Impact: 
It is estimated that by reducing the coverage of African Daisies to a supported 
15% of total area, the annual costs will be reduced to $3100 annually.  
This is $38,000 less than supporting the current 80% total area annually.  
 

Board Options: 
1. Direct staff to reduce the African daisy area at East Center to a more cost 

effective and manageable area  
2. Direct staff to continue supporting the African Daisies at 80% of total 

landscape area at East Center. 
3. Provide alternative direction to staff. 

 

Staff Recommendation: 
Option #1 
 
Recommended Motion: 

I move to direct staff to pursue reducing the African daisies coverage area at 
East Center and plant water conservative vegetation and ground cover. 
 



Attachments: 

 Example #1  

 Example #2  

 East Center Current Coverage of African Daisies 

 East Center Purposed Reduced Coverage Area of African Daisies  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Example #1 

 

 

African daisies in full bloom 



 

Dropped daisy seed ready for cleanup 

 

 

 

 



 

Example #2 

 

 

Weeds that grow in between the daisies 

 

 

 

 



 

Current Coverage Area of African Daisies 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Purposed Reduced Coverage Area of African Daisies  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 



Green Valley Recreation, Inc. 

Approve Amended & Restated Bylaws  
Prepared By: Nina Campfield, Board Director                   Meeting Date: 6/23/21 

                         Jen Morningstar, Director of Administrative Services 

  

Presented By: Nina Campfield, Board Director  Consent Agenda: No 

 

Originating Committee: Board Affairs Committee 

Action Requested:  
Approve Amended and Restated Bylaws Version 3 for inclusion on the 2022 ballot 

Strategic Plan Focus Area: n/a 

Background Justification:  
Several sections of GVR Bylaws do not comply with state statutes. Additionally, GVR’s current 
Bylaws are not well organized.  
 
GVR Members must approve all changes to GVR Bylaws, and the Board Affairs Committee 
would like the Board of Directors to place the (attached) annotated and restated bylaws on 
the 2022 ballot for member approval. 

 
Impact:  If this motion is approved, GVR members will have an opportunity to bring GVR’s 

bylaws into conformance with Arizona Revised Statutes.  In addition, the bylaws will be easier 

to read and interpret. 
 

Recommended Motion: 
Move to approve placing Amended and Restated Bylaws on the 2022 ballot. 

Attachments: 
2021 FINAL Amended and Restated Bylaws – Exhibit A 
2021 FINAL Annotated Amended and Restated Bylaws 

 



1 

 

 
 

 
Amended and Restated Bylaws of 

Green Valley Recreation, Inc. 
 
 

ARTICLE 1 
DEFINITIONS 

 
1.1 Additional Card Holder. "Additional Card Holder" is an individual who shares a common 
household with a GVR Member.  
 
1.2 Assigned Member. "Assigned Member" is an individual who has been assigned the right 
to use GVR's facilities, vote and serve on the Board pursuant to Article 3, Section 3.3(A). 
 
1.3 Board. "Board" shall mean the board of directors of Green Valley Recreation, Inc., an 
Arizona nonprofit corporation. 
 
1.4 Commercial Residential Care Facility (CRCF); CRCF Resident. "Commercial Residential 
Care Facility" or "CRCF" shall mean a commercial property within The Corporation's jurisdictional 
boundaries that leases residential units and/or provides its residents with care-related services. 
A CRCF Resident is an individual residing in a CRCF. 
 
1.5 Corporate Policy Manual. The "Corporate Policy Manual" is the document containing the 
rules, policies and procedures of The Corporation as established by the Board. 
 
1.6 Corporation or GVR. "The Corporation" or "GVR" shall mean and refer to Green Valley 

Recreation, Inc., an Arizona nonprofit corporation. 

 
1.7 Guest. "Guest" is a temporary visitor of a GVR Member, CRCF Resident, Life Care Member 
or Tenant who lives more than twenty (20) miles outside The Corporation's jurisdictional 
boundaries who may use GVR's recreational facilities upon payment of such a fee as established 
by the Board.   
 
1.8 GVR Member; GVR Membership. "GVR Member" shall mean and refer to an Owner or 

Assigned Member. "GVR Membership" shall mean and refer to all Owners and Assigned 

Members, collectively. 

 

1.9 GVR Property. "GVR Property" shall mean and refer to real property within The 

Corporation's Jurisdictional Boundaries as set forth in Article 3, Section 3.1.  

 

EXHIBIT A 



2 

 

1.10 Life Care Member. "Life Care Member" is a former GVR Member who resides in a 
residential care facility in the greater Green Valley area and has been extended privileges to use 
GVR's recreational facilities by the Board. 
 
1.11 Master Deed Restriction. "Master Deed Restriction" shall mean the Green Valley 
Recreation, Inc. Amended Master Deed Restriction recorded in Docket 11371 at page 2595 of the 
official records of Pima County, Arizona. 
 
1.12 Owner. "Owner" is the record holder of legal title to the fee interest of a GVR Property, 
including each person who has legal title of a GVR Property in joint tenancy, tenancy in common, 
or as community property. When a GVR Property is held in a trust, the trustee is the Owner unless 
otherwise stated in the trust.   
 

1.13 Tenant. "Tenant" shall mean an individual leasing a GVR Property who is assigned the 
right to use GVR's facilities pursuant to Article 3, Section 3.3(B).  
 

ARTICLE 2 

BUSINESS AND JURISDICTION OF THE CORPORATION 

 

2.1 Business of The Corporation. The Corporation shall provide recreational, cultural and 

educational programs for the enjoyment of GVR Members and their Guests. The Corporation 

shall purchase, lease, own and maintain recreational facilities in support of the programs stated 

above. 

 

2.2 Jurisdiction of The Corporation. The jurisdiction of The Corporation shall include the real 

property designated within the Corporate Boundary Document kept on file at the office of The 

Corporation.  

 

2.3 Expansion of Jurisdiction. Real property that is not within The Corporation's jurisdiction 

may be brought within the jurisdiction of The Corporation with the approval of a majority of 

those GVR Members voting on the matter. Any such expansion of The Corporation's boundaries 

shall be certified by the President or Secretary and entered into the Corporate Boundary Docu-

ment.    

 

2.4 New Housing Developments. Any expansion of The Corporation's jurisdictional 
boundaries for new subdivision development pursuant to Section 2.2 above shall conform to the 
following criteria: (a) The developer of the subdivision shall agree to place a restriction 
in the subdivision's covenants, conditions and restrictions requiring perpetual membership in The 
Corporation for each property. 
 



3 

 

 (b) The developer of the subdivision shall place an “age restriction” with regard to 
familial status exemptions as outlined by Housing and Urban Development (HUD). 
 
 (c) Each developer must give guaranty through financial assurances that it will make 
contributions to GVR in terms of front-end cash or donation of land and contribution of 
recreational and social facilities to be built and dedicated to GVR free of encumbrances, 
whichever serves the best interest of the GVR Membership as determined by the Board. Both 
cash contributions and donations of land and improvements shall be based, at a minimum, upon 
the grand total of GVR fees charged in connection with potential homes in each development. In 
the case of the donation of land and improvements, adequate security shall first be furnished to 
GVR in the form of a letter of credit, certificate of deposit, bond, or other commercially reason-
able and adequate security. 
 
 (d) The Board shall negotiate on behalf of the GVR Membership with respect to the 
new development and bind each developer with independent contracts. 
 
 (e) Each new development must be adjacent/contiguous to the existing GVR 
boundaries at the time of entry. 
   

ARTICLE 3 
MEMBERSHIP AND USE OF FACILITIES 

 
3.1 GVR Property. A GVR Property is any of the following:  
 
 (a) Residential real estate located within The Corporation's jurisdiction against which 
a voluntary deed restriction agreement has been recorded requiring perpetual membership in 
GVR; 
 
 (b)  Residential real estate located within a subdivision that requires membership in 
GVR by virtue of recorded covenants, conditions and restrictions; or 
 
 (c)  Commercial residential property within The Corporation's jurisdiction ("CRCF"). 
 
3.2 Membership Rights. Subject to the provisions of Section 3.5 of this Article III, an Owner 
shall be entitled to all of the rights of membership in The Corporation which shall include the 
right to use GVR's facilities, vote in GVR Membership matters, and serve on the Board. 
  
3.3 Assignment of Membership Rights. Upon payment of a fee established by the Board, an 
Owner may do either of the following: 
 
 A. Surrender the right to use GVR's facilities, vote in GVR Membership matters, and 
serve on the Board and assign such rights to an individual who occupies his/her GVR Property 
without payment of rent ("Assigned Member"); or 
 



4 

 

 B. Surrender the right to use GVR's facilities and assign such right to an individual 
who leases his/her GVR Property ("Tenant").  
  
3.4  Use of Recreational Facilities. GVR Members, CRCF residents, Tenants, Additional Card 
Holders, Life Care Members and Guests may use GVR's recreational facilities subject to the then 
current rules and regulations established by the Board.  
 
3.5  Suspension of Rights.  
 
  A. The right of an individual to use GVR's recreational facilities may be suspended for 
any infraction of these Amended and Restated Bylaws, policies, and/or rules and regulations of 
The Corporation in conformance with procedures adopted by the Board. The suspension of an 
individual's right to use GVR’s facilities shall not affect such individual's obligation to pay dues or 
any other amounts owed to GVR during the period of suspension. 
 
     B. The right of a GVR Member to use GVR facilities, vote in GVR Membership matters, 
and be nominated in an election of directors shall be suspended during any period in which such 
GVR member is delinquent in the payment of dues, fees, or special assessments.  
 
3.6  Membership Responsibility. It shall be the duty of each GVR Member to keep The 
Corporation advised of his/her current mailing address. 
 

ARTICLE 4 
MEMBERSHIP FEES AND DUES 

 
4.1 Fees. GVR Members shall be required to pay admission fees, transfer fees, and such 
administrative fees as established by the Board. 
  
4.2 Dues. Annual dues shall be levied against each GVR Property each calendar year in such 
amounts as determined by the Board; provided, however, that annual dues shall be prorated for 
the year in which a GVR Property is acquired by an Owner. In establishing the amount of the 
annual dues, the Board shall be guided by the expense of operating The Corporation and a 
reasonable reserve for capital replacements with the objective of operating the facilities on a 
self-sustaining basis. On or before December 10th of each year, the Board shall announce the 
schedule of dues and the operating and capital budgets for the next calendar year.  
 
4.3 Special Assessments. The Board may levy a special assessment against each GVR 
Property; provided, however, that such assessment is approved by a majority of GVR Members 
voting on the matter.  
 
4.4. Delinquencies. Annual dues, fees or special assessments that remain unpaid more than 
thirty (30) days after their due date shall be subject to a late fee as determined by the Board. All 
attorney's fees and costs incurred by The Corporation in collecting dues, fees or special 



5 

 

assessments shall be the personal obligation of the delinquent Owner and a charge upon such 
Owner's GVR Property pursuant to the Master Deed Restriction. 
 

ARTICLE 5 
MEMBERSHIP MEETINGS AND VOTING 

 
5.1 Annual Meeting. The annual meeting of The Corporation shall be held within ninety days 
(90) after the end of the fiscal year and shall include a report of The Corporation's most recent 
financial audit.  
 
5.2 Special Meetings. Special meetings of The Corporation may be called at any time by either 
the President, a majority of directors, or upon a petition signed by GVR Members representing 
at least ten percent (10%) of GVR Properties. Special Meetings called as a result of a petition shall 
be held within ninety days (90) of delivery of same upon The Corporation.  
 
5.3 Notice of Meetings. Written notice of the date, time and place of the annual meeting or 
any special meeting shall be given to each eligible GVR Member no less than thirty (30) days nor 
more than sixty (60) days prior to the meeting, and in the case of a special meeting, the notice 
shall set forth the nature of the business to be transacted.  
 
5.4 Record Date. The record date for determining a GVR Member's eligibility to vote in any 
matter shall be thirty (30) days prior to the first day that votes may be cast in such matter.  
 
5.5 Voting Rights. GVR Members who are eligible to vote may cast one (1) vote in any matter 
put to a vote of the GVR Membership; provided, however, there shall be no more than one (1) 
vote cast for each GVR Property. The vote for each GVR Property must be cast as a unit and 
fractional votes shall not be permitted. If a vote is cast on behalf of a GVR Property, it will 
thereafter be conclusively presumed for all purposes that the individual casting such vote was 
acting with the authority and consent of all co-owners of such GVR Property. In the event that 
more than one (1) vote is cast for a particular GVR Property, none of the votes shall be counted 
and all of the votes for such GVR Property shall be deemed void.  
 
5.6 Voting Procedure; Quorum Requirement. All action by GVR Members shall be taken by 
written ballot in conformance with the procedures and requirements set forth in A.R.S. §10-3708. 
Except as otherwise specified in these Amended and Restated Bylaws, the quorum requirement 
for a vote on any matter shall be ballots cast by GVR Members representing ten percent (10%) of 
the total eligible votes in The Corporation. 

 
ARTICLE 6 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
 

6.1 Number of Directors; Qualifications. The Board shall consist of twelve (12) directors who 
shall be GVR Members residing within the jurisdiction of The Corporation, and the chief executive 
officer who shall serve as an ex-officio, non-voting member of the Board.  



6 

 

 
6.2  Term of Directors. The term of a director elected by the GVR Membership shall be three 
(3) years. The terms of directors shall be staggered such that each year, the term of four (4) 
directors shall expire. No Director may serve more than two (2) consecutive terms, with any part 
of a term served as an appointed director constituting a term for this purpose. A former director 
may be re-elected after one (1) or more years’ absence from the Board. 
 

 6.3 Nomination of Directors.  
 
  A. By Committee. The Nominations & Elections Committee shall compile a list of 

eligible GVR Members who are qualified to serve on the Board and have submitted a candidate 
application. The slate of candidates shall be made available to the GVR Membership at least 
ninety (90) days before the annual meeting. 

  
  B. By GVR Members. Additional nominations may be made by a nomination petition 

delivered to The Corporation no less than sixty (60) days before the annual meeting and which 
contains the signed consent of the nominee and the signatures of eligible GVR Members 
representing not less than two-hundred (200) GVR Properties. The names of nominees submitted 
through such a petition shall be added to the slate of candidates compiled by the Nominations 
and Elections Committee. 

 
 6.4 Vacancies. Any vacancy on the Board created by the resignation, removal, or death of a 

director, shall be filled by the unsuccessful candidate of the last election, who received the 
greatest number of votes and is qualified and willing to serve. If none of said unsuccessful 
candidates is qualified and willing to serve, a majority of the remaining directors shall appoint a 
director to serve for the unexpired term of his/her predecessor. 

 
6.5 Compensation; GVR Employment. Directors shall not receive compensation for their 
services on the Board but may be reimbursed by The Corporation for authorized expenses and 
disbursements made on its behalf. Directors and members of their immediate families may not 
provide services to The Corporation in exchange for financial compensation except for ancillary 
services related to instruction or the arts. 
 
6.6 Powers. In addition to exercising all the powers of The Corporation as set forth in A.R.S. 
§10-3302 and GVR's Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation, the Board shall have the 
authority to do the following: 
    

    (1) Adopt rules and regulations governing the use of GVR's facilities and the personal 
conduct of all persons thereon which shall be published in the Corporate Policy Manual. 
 

   (2) Adopt policies and procedures in order to carry out the provisions of these 
Amended and Restated Bylaws which shall be published in the Corporate Policy Manual. 

 



7 

 

   (3) Declare a vacancy on the Board should any director miss three (3) regularly 
scheduled Board meetings in any twelve-month period without good cause. 
6.7 Limitations on Powers.  
 
 A. The following actions shall require the prior approval of a majority of GVR 
Members voting on the matter:  
 
  (1) A contract requiring an annual payment that exceeds ten percent (10%) of 
the annual budgets for that fiscal year; provided, however, that a vote on any such matter shall 
have a quorum requirement of twenty percent (20%); or  
 
  (2)   A change in services which would result in either an increase or decrease 
of five percent (5%) or more of the current operating budget; provided, however, that increases 
in services relating to new facilities provided by and at the expense of a developer or funded by 
existing reserves intended for such purposes shall not require the approval of GVR members. 
 
 B. The following actions shall require the approval of a majority of directors in office: 
 
  (1) Appointing and removing the chief executive officer and fixing his/her 
compensation; 
 
  (2) Establishing the amount of admission fees, dues, and special assessments; 
or 
   
  (3) Adopting operating and capital budgets, which shall include a contribution 
to reserves. 

 
ARTICLE 7 

BOARD MEETINGS 
  
7.1  Regular Meetings. Regular meetings of the Board shall be held at least four (4) times per 
fiscal year and shall be fixed on a schedule determined by the Board and published to the GVR 
Membership. 

 
7.2 Special Meetings. Special meetings of the Board may be called by the President, the Vice 
President, or at the request of any two (2) directors.  
 
7.3 Notice of Meetings.  
 
 A. Regular Meetings. Regular meetings of the Board may be held without additional 
notice to directors or GVR Members.   
 



8 

 

 B. Special Meetings. Written notice of the date, time and place of a special meeting 
shall be provided to each director at least two days prior to the meeting and if any portion of the 
meeting is to be open to GVR Members, such notice shall also be provided electronically to the 
GVR Membership.  
 
 C. Waiver of Notice. A director may waive any notice in writing before or after the 
date and time stated in the notice. A director's attendance at or participation in a meeting waives 
any required notice to the director of the meeting unless the director at the beginning of the 
meeting or promptly on the director's arrival at the meeting objects to holding the meeting or 
transacting business at the meeting and does not thereafter vote for or assent to action taken at 
the meeting. 
  
7.4 Quorum. The presence, in person, by video conference, or by telephone conference, of a 
majority of the number of directors in office shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of 
business at a meeting.  Except as otherwise specified in these Amended and Restated Bylaws, the 
vote of a majority of directors present at any meeting at which a quorum is present shall be the 
act of the Board. 
 
7.5 Open Meetings. Meetings of the Board at which official business of The Corporation is 
transacted shall be open to GVR Members; provided, however, that the Board, at the discretion 
of the President, may hold a meeting or any portion thereof in executive session to address any 
of the following: 
 
 (1) Personnel matters; or 
 (2) Legal matters.  
 
7.6 Conduct of Meetings. Roberts Rules of Order shall prevail unless otherwise determined 
by the Board. 

 
ARTICLE 8 

OFFICERS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER 
 

8.1 Enumeration of Officers. The officers of The Corporation shall be the President, Vice 
President, Secretary, Treasurer, Assistant Secretary and Assistant Treasurer, the sequence of 
which determines their seniority.   
 
8.2 Election and Term. Within thirty (30) days after the annual meeting of the GVR 
Membership, the officers shall be elected from among the directors by a majority vote of the 
Board and each such officer shall serve, at the pleasure of the Board, for a term of one (1) year 
or until the successor is elected.   
 
8.3 Resignation and Removal; Vacancies. An officer may resign at any time by delivering 
notice to The Corporation and an officer may be removed from office by the Board at any time, 



9 

 

with or without cause. An officer elected by the Board to fill a vacancy caused by resignation, 
removal or death shall serve for the unexpired term of his/her predecessor.   
 
8.4  Duties of Officers. 
 
 A. President. The President shall preside at all meetings of the Board and at meetings 
of the GVR Membership and shall carry out all orders and resolutions of the Board and shall sign 
all formal written instruments such as notes, leases, mortgages, deeds, and contracts other than 
recurring operational contracts which the Board by appropriate resolution has exempted from 
this requirement.  Contracts signed by the President shall receive prior legal review and Board 
approval. In the absence of the President, the Vice President shall perform all the duties of the 
President.  Should the Vice President also be absent, the duties of the President shall be 
performed by the most senior officer present and when so acting, shall have all the powers of 
the President. 
 
 B. Vice President.  The Vice President shall carry out duties as assigned by the 
President.  In the absence of the President, the Vice President shall perform the duties of the 
President and, when so acting, shall have all the powers of the President. 
 
 C. Secretary.  The Secretary shall ensure that minutes are kept of meetings of the 
GVR Membership and the Board. The Secretary shall cause to be given all notices in accordance 
with provisions of these Amended and Restated Bylaws or as required by law. The Secretary shall 
see that all records of The Corporation are properly kept and preserved and that the names and 
addresses of all GVR members are on file in the office of The Corporation. In the absence of the 
Secretary, the Assistant Secretary shall perform all the duties of the Secretary. 
 
 D. Treasurer.  The Treasurer shall exercise an oversight role of the financial affairs of 
The Corporation to ensure that financial records are kept in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting standards.  The Treasurer shall ensure that timely, accurate financial statements are 
presented to the Board and that the financial records of The Corporation are audited. In the 
absence of the Treasurer, the Assistant Treasurer shall perform all the duties of the Treasurer. 
 
8.5 Chief Executive Officer. The chief executive officer shall be accountable to the Board and 
shall serve as the chief operating officer of The Corporation responsible for the management of 
the day-to-day operations of GVR. The chief executive officer shall work cooperatively with the 
Board to ensure that GVR's policies are carried out effectively without exceeding the limits of 
authority delegated by the Board and shall ensure that operations are in conformance with these 
Amended and Restated Bylaws and the CPM.  
 
8.6 Signing of Checks. Any check in the amount of $2,500.00 or more shall be signed by two 
(2) officers of The Corporation or by one (1) officer and the chief executive officer. Any check in 
an amount of less than $2,500.00 may be signed by the CEO with the stipulation that a log is kept 
reflecting the two (2) department heads that reviewed the checks prior to its execution. Month-



10 

 

end statements shall be reviewed by two (2) officers of The Corporation as soon as practicable 
after their completion.  

 
 

ARTICLE 9 
COMMITTEES 

 
9.1 Standing Committees. The Board shall establish the following committees which shall 
make policy recommendations to the Board, and have such duties as set forth in the Corporate 
Policy Manual:  
 
 (1) Board Affairs; 
 (2) Fiscal Affairs; 
 (3) Nominations & Elections; 
 (4) Planning and Evaluation;  
 (5) Audit; and  
 (6) Investment. 
 
9.2 Special Committees. The President may establish special or ad hoc committees to assume 
specific, short-term responsibilities. The duties and responsibilities of such committees shall be 
approved by the Board. 
 
9.3 Composition of Committees.  
 
 A. Chairperson. The chairperson of each committee shall be a director selected by 
the President subject to Board approval; provided, however, that the chairperson of the Audit 
Committee shall not be an officer of The Corporation or a member of the Fiscal Affairs 
Committee.  
 
 B. Members. Committee members shall be selected by the chairperson of the 
committee from among GVR Members and operations staff. The President shall be an ex-officio 
member of all committees except the Nominations & Elections and Audit Committees. 
 
9.4 Subcommittees. Except for the Nominations & Elections and Audit Committees, each 
committee shall have the power to establish subcommittees and may delegate to such 
subcommittees any of its duties and powers.  
 
9.5 Meetings. Meetings of committees and subcommittees shall be open to GVR Members 
at the discretion of each committee or subcommittee. 

 
ARTICLE X 

MISCELLANEOUS 
 

10.1 Amendments.  



11 

 

 
 A. Proposed by GVR Members. Amendments to these Amended and Restated Bylaws 
may be proposed by a petition containing the signatures of GVR Members representing at least 
ten percent (10%) of the total eligible votes in The Corporation submitted to the Secretary no 
less than sixty (60) days before the Annual or Special Meeting. Amendments proposed by GVR 
members shall be submitted to a vote of the GVR Membership within sixty (60) days of 
submission of such a petition. 
 
 B. Proposed by Board. The Board may propose amendments to these Amended and 
Restated Bylaws with the approval of two-thirds (2/3) of the directors in office.  
 
 C. Approval of Amendments. Any amendment to these Amended and Restated 
Bylaws shall be approved by GVR Members representing a majority of the total eligible votes in 
The Corporation or two-thirds (2/3) of those GVR Members voting on the matter, whichever is 
less.  
 
10.2  GVR Clubs. Any group of GVR Members interested in pursuing a particular field of inter-
est may join together for the purpose of pursuing such interest and may request that the Board 
grant them status as a GVR club. The Board shall establish the following: (i) policies and 
procedures for creating and revoking club status; and (ii) the rules and regulations governing the 
operation of GVR clubs. 
 
10.3 Fiscal Year. The fiscal year and GVR Membership year of The Corporation shall be January 1 
through December 31.  

 
10.4 Annual Audit. The financial records of The Corporation shall be audited following the 
close of each fiscal year by an independent auditing firm. 
 
10.5 Records. The books, records and papers of The Corporation shall be available to GVR 
Members for inspection and copying pursuant to the provisions of A.R.S. §§10-11602 and 10-
11603. 
 
10.6 Conflict. In the event of any conflict between these Amended and Restated Bylaws and 
GVR's Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation, or between these Amended and Restated 
Bylaws and the Arizona Nonprofit Corporation Act (A.R.S. §10-3101, et seq.), the latter of the two 
shall control. In the event of any conflict between these Amended and Restated Bylaws and the 
Corporate Policy Manual, the former shall control.   
 
10.7 Topical Headings. The topical headings of the paragraphs contained in these Amended 
and Restated Bylaws are for convenience only and do not define, limit or construe the content of 
the paragraphs or of this document.  



1 

 

This annotated document includes notes and cross-references to current Bylaw provisions (in brackets 
at the end of each provision where applicable) which appear in red. A copy of the proposed Amended 
and Restated Bylaws without annotations is available on GVR's website. The Arizona Revised Statutes 
referenced in this document by the letters "A.R.S." are in the Arizona Nonprofit Corporation Act which 

is available online at: https://www.azleg.gov/arsDetail/?title=10. If the Amended and Restated 
Bylaws are approved by GVR members, a table of contents will be added. 

 
Amended and Restated Bylaws of 

Green Valley Recreation, Inc. 
 
 

ARTICLE 1 
DEFINITIONS 

 
1.1 Additional Card Holder. "Additional Card Holder" is an individual who shares a common 
household with a GVR Member. [Art. II, Sec. 3(A)] 
 
1.2 Assigned Member. "Assigned Member" is an individual who has been assigned the right 
to use GVR's facilities, vote and serve on the Board pursuant to Article 3, Section 3.3(A). [Art. II, 
Sec. 3(B)] 
 
1.3 Board. "Board" shall mean the board of directors of Green Valley Recreation, Inc., an 
Arizona nonprofit corporation. 
 
1.4 Commercial Residential Care Facility (CRCF); CRCF Resident. "Commercial Residential 
Care Facility" or "CRCF" shall mean a commercial property within The Corporation's jurisdictional 
boundaries that leases residential units and/or provides its residents with care-related services. 
A CRCF Resident is an individual residing in a CRCF. [Art. II, Sec. 3(D) and (E)] 
 
1.5 Corporate Policy Manual. The "Corporate Policy Manual" is the document containing the 
rules, policies and procedures of The Corporation as established by the Board. [Art. XII, Sect. 1] 
 
1.6 Corporation or GVR. "The Corporation" or "GVR" shall mean and refer to Green Valley 

Recreation, Inc., an Arizona nonprofit corporation. 

 
1.7 Guest. "Guest" is a temporary visitor of a GVR Member, CRCF Resident, Life Care Member 
or Tenant who lives more than twenty (20) miles outside The Corporation's jurisdictional 
boundaries who may use GVR's recreational facilities upon payment of such a fee as established 
by the Board. [Art. II, Sec. 3(F) and Art. II, Sec. 4(A)(3)]   
 
1.8 GVR Member; GVR Membership. "GVR Member" shall mean and refer to an Owner or 

Assigned Member. "GVR Membership" shall mean and refer to all Owners and Assigned 

Members, collectively. 



2 

 

 

1.9 GVR Property. "GVR Property" shall mean and refer to real property within The 

Corporation's Jurisdictional Boundaries as set forth in Article 3, Section 3.1. [Art. II, Sec. 1] 

 

1.10 Life Care Member. "Life Care Member" is a former GVR Member who resides in a 
residential care facility in the greater Green Valley area and has been extended privileges to use 
GVR's recreational facilities by the Board. [Art. II, Sec. 3(I) and Art. II, Sec. 4(B)] 
 
1.11 Master Deed Restriction. "Master Deed Restriction" shall mean the Green Valley 
Recreation, Inc. Amended Master Deed Restriction recorded in Docket 11371 at page 2595 of the 
official records of Pima County, Arizona. 
 
1.12 Owner. "Owner" is the record holder of legal title to the fee interest of a GVR Property, 
including each person who has legal title of a GVR Property in joint tenancy, tenancy in common, 
or as community property. When a GVR Property is held in a trust, the trustee is the Owner unless 
otherwise stated in the trust. [Art. II, Sec. 2(A)] 
 

1.13 Tenant. "Tenant" shall mean an individual leasing a GVR Property who is assigned the 
right to use GVR's facilities pursuant to Article 3, Section 3.3(B). [Art. II, Sec. 3(C)] 
 
 This first Article provides definitions for all of the capitalized terms used in the document. A new 
term, "Owner," has been added to distinguish between individuals who are members by virtue of their 
ownership of a GVR property, as opposed to Assigned Members. The term "GVR Member" includes both 
Owners and Assigned Members.    
 
 Article I, Section 1 of the current Bylaws has been removed as it is addressed in the Amended and 
Restated Articles of Incorporation. Article 1, Sections 4 (GVR Clubs) and 7 (Fiscal Year) of the current 
Bylaws have been moved to Article X (Miscellaneous). Sections 5 and 6 of the current Bylaws (addressing 
the jurisdiction of GVR) are now in Article 2. 

 
ARTICLE 2 

BUSINESS AND JURISDICTION OF THE CORPORATION 

 

2.1 Business of The Corporation. The Corporation shall provide recreational, cultural and 

educational programs for the enjoyment of GVR Members and their Guests. The Corporation 

shall purchase, lease, own and maintain recreational facilities in support of the programs stated 

above. [Art. I, Sec. 2] 

 

2.2 Jurisdiction of The Corporation. The jurisdiction of The Corporation shall include the real 

property designated within the Corporate Boundary Document kept on file at the office of The 

Corporation. [Art. I, Sec. 5(A)] 

 



3 

 

2.3 Expansion of Jurisdiction. Real property that is not within The Corporation's jurisdiction 

may be brought within the jurisdiction of The Corporation with the approval of a majority of 

those GVR Members voting on the matter. Any such expansion of The Corporation's boundaries 

shall be certified by the President or Secretary and entered into the Corporate Boundary Docu-

ment.   [Art. I, Sec. 5(B)] 

 

2.4 New Housing Developments. Any expansion of The Corporation's jurisdictional 

boundaries for new subdivision development pursuant to Section 2.2 above shall conform to the 

following criteria: 

 

 (a) The developer of the subdivision shall agree to place a restriction in the 
subdivision's covenants, conditions and restrictions requiring perpetual membership in The 
Corporation for each property. 
 (b) The developer of the subdivision shall place an “age restriction” with regard to 
familial status exemptions as outlined by Housing and Urban Development (HUD). 
 
 (c) Each developer must give guaranty through financial assurances that it will make 
contributions to GVR in terms of front-end cash or donation of land and contribution of 
recreational and social facilities to be built and dedicated to GVR free of encumbrances, 
whichever serves the best interest of the GVR Membership as determined by the Board. Both 
cash contributions and donations of land and improvements shall be based, at a minimum, upon 
the grand total of GVR fees charged in connection with potential homes in each development. In 
the case of the donation of land and improvements, adequate security shall first be furnished to 
GVR in the form of a letter of credit, certificate of deposit, bond, or other commercially reason-
able and adequate security. 
 
 (d) The Board shall negotiate on behalf of the GVR Membership with respect to the 
new development and bind each developer with independent contracts. 
 
 (e) Each new development must be adjacent/contiguous to the existing GVR 
boundaries at the time of entry. 
[Art. I, Sec. 6] 
   

ARTICLE 3 
MEMBERSHIP AND USE OF FACILITIES 

 
3.1 GVR Property. A GVR Property is any of the following:  
 
 (a) Residential real estate located within The Corporation's jurisdiction against which 
a voluntary deed restriction agreement has been recorded requiring perpetual membership in 
GVR; 
 



4 

 

 (b)  Residential real estate located within a subdivision that requires membership in 
GVR by virtue of recorded covenants, conditions and restrictions; or 
 
 (c)  Commercial residential property within The Corporation's jurisdiction ("CRCF"). 
[Art. II, Sec. 1] 
 
3.2 Membership Rights. Subject to the provisions of Section 3.5 of this Article III, an Owner 
shall be entitled to all of the rights of membership in The Corporation which shall include the 
right to use GVR's facilities, vote in GVR Membership matters, and serve on the Board. 
  
3.3 Assignment of Membership Rights. Upon payment of a fee established by the Board, an 
Owner may do either of the following: 
 
 A. Surrender the right to use GVR's facilities, vote in GVR Membership matters, and 
serve on the Board and assign such rights to an individual who occupies his/her GVR Property 
without payment of rent ("Assigned Member"); or 
 
 B. Surrender the right to use GVR's facilities and assign such right to an individual 
who leases his/her GVR Property ("Tenant").  
[Art. II, Sec. 2(B) and Sec. 6(D)] 
  
3.4  Use of Recreational Facilities. GVR Members, CRCF residents, Tenants, Additional Card 
Holders, Life Care Members and Guests may use GVR's recreational facilities subject to the then 
current rules and regulations established by the Board. [Art. II, Sec. 4(A) and (B)] 
 
3.5  Suspension of Rights.  
 
  A. The right of an individual to use GVR's recreational facilities may be suspended for 
any infraction of these Amended and Restated Bylaws, policies, and/or rules and regulations of 
The Corporation in conformance with procedures adopted by the Board. The suspension of an 
individual's right to use GVR’s facilities shall not affect such individual's obligation to pay dues or 
any other amounts owed to GVR during the period of suspension. [Art. II, Sec. 5] 
 
     B. The right of a GVR Member to use GVR facilities, vote in GVR Membership matters, 
and be nominated in an election of directors shall be suspended during any period in which such 
GVR Member is delinquent in the payment of dues, fees, or special assessments. [Art. II, Sec. 
7(B)] 
 
3.6  Membership Responsibility. It shall be the duty of each GVR Member to keep The 
Corporation advised of his/her current mailing address. [Art. II, Sec. 6(B)] 
 
 
 
 



5 

 

ARTICLE 4 
MEMBERSHIP FEES AND DUES 

 
4.1 Fees. GVR Members shall be required to pay admission fees, transfer fees, and such 
administrative fees as established by the Board. [Art. II, Sec. 7(A) and Article III]. The specific types 
of fees that have been approved by the Board are set forth in the CPM and fall within these three 
categories: admission fees are Initial Fees and Property Acquisition Capital Fees; transfer fees are the fees 
charged for resale of GVR Properties; and administrative fees are guest fees, tenant fees, etc.  

 
4.2 Dues. Annual dues shall be levied against each GVR Property each calendar year in such 
amounts as determined by the Board; provided, however, that annual dues shall be prorated for 
the year in which a GVR Property is acquired by an Owner. In establishing the amount of the 
annual dues, the Board shall be guided by the expense of operating The Corporation and a 
reasonable reserve for capital replacements with the objective of operating the facilities on a 
self-sustaining basis. On or before December 10th of each year, the Board shall announce the 
schedule of dues and the operating and capital budgets for the next calendar year. [Art. III, Sec. 
1, 2 and 4]. The word “facilities” has been changed to “The Corporation” in the second sentence for 
clarification purposes.  

 
4.3 Special Assessments. The Board may levy a special assessment against each GVR 
Property; provided, however, that such assessment is approved by a majority of GVR Members 
voting on the matter. [Art. III, Sec. 5] 
 
4.4. Delinquencies. Annual dues, fees or special assessments that remain unpaid more than 
thirty (30) days after their due date shall be subject to a late fee as determined by the Board. All 
attorney's fees and costs incurred by The Corporation in collecting dues, fees or special 
assessments shall be the personal obligation of the delinquent Owner and a charge upon such 
Owner's GVR Property pursuant to the Master Deed Restriction. This provision was added to address 
the penalties for late payment of dues, fees and assessments addressed in the Master Deed Restriction 
recorded against all GVR Properties.   

 
ARTICLE 5 

MEMBERSHIP MEETINGS AND VOTING 
 

5.1 Annual Meeting. The annual meeting of The Corporation shall be held within ninety days 
(90) after the end of the fiscal year and shall include a report of The Corporation's most recent 
financial audit. [Art. IX, Sec. 1] 
 
5.2 Special Meetings. Special meetings of The Corporation may be called at any time by either 
the President, a majority of directors, or upon a petition signed by GVR Members representing 
at least ten percent (10%) of GVR Properties. Special Meetings called as a result of a petition shall 
be held within ninety days (90) of delivery of same upon The Corporation. [Art. IX, Sec. 2 and Art. 
VI, Sec. 1(A)] 
 



6 

 

5.3 Notice of Meetings. Written notice of the date, time and place of the annual meeting or 
any special meeting shall be given to each eligible GVR Member no less than thirty (30) days nor 
more than sixty (60) days prior to the meeting, and in the case of a special meeting, the notice 
shall set forth the nature of the business to be transacted. [Art. IX, Sec. 3]. The maximum notice of 60 

days was added to meet the requirements of A.R.S. 10-3705(A). 
 
5.4 Record Date. The record date for determining a GVR Member's eligibility to vote in any 
matter shall be thirty (30) days prior to the first day that votes may be cast in such matter. A 
record date is the date upon which members must be current in the payment of their dues, fees and 
assessments in order to qualify for notice of the annual meeting and to vote. This provision was added (as 
permitted under A.R.S. §10-3707) so that the Board will not have to fix a record date each year. 

 
5.5 Voting Rights. GVR Members who are eligible to vote may cast one (1) vote in any matter 
put to a vote of the GVR Membership; provided, however, there shall be no more than one (1) 
vote cast for each GVR Property. The vote for each GVR Property must be cast as a unit and 
fractional votes shall not be permitted. If a vote is cast on behalf of a GVR Property, it will 
thereafter be conclusively presumed for all purposes that the individual casting such vote was 
acting with the authority and consent of all co-owners of such GVR Property. In the event that 
more than one (1) vote is cast for a particular GVR Property, none of the votes shall be counted 
and all of the votes for such GVR Property shall be deemed void. [Art. II, Sec. 6(A)]. The last 
sentence was added to prohibit fractional voting pursuant to A.R.S. 10-3721(B).  
 
5.6 Voting Procedure; Quorum Requirement. All action by GVR Members shall be taken by 
written ballot in conformance with the procedures and requirements set forth in A.R.S. §10-3708. 
Except as otherwise specified in these Amended and Restated Bylaws, the quorum requirement 
for a vote on any matter shall be ballots cast by GVR Members representing ten percent (10%) of 
the total eligible votes in The Corporation. [Art. II, Sec. 6(C) and Art. XI, Sec. 1 and 2]. A quorum 
requirement - the minimum number of members who must participate in a vote in order for the vote to 
be valid - has been added. Ten percent (10%) has been the default quorum requirement used to date 
pursuant to A.R.S. §10-3722.  

 
ARTICLE 6 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
 

6.1 Number of Directors; Qualifications. The Board shall consist of twelve (12) directors who 
shall be GVR Members residing within the jurisdiction of The Corporation, and the chief executive 
officer who shall serve as an ex-officio, non-voting member of the Board. . [Art. IV, Sec. 1 and Art. 
VII, Sec. 1] 
  
6.2  Term of Directors. The term of a director elected by the GVR Membership shall be three 
(3) years. The terms of directors shall be staggered such that each year, the term of four (4) 
directors shall expire. No Director may serve more than two (2) consecutive terms, with any part 
of a term served as an appointed director constituting a term for this purpose. A former director 
may be re-elected after one (1) or more years’ absence from the Board. [Art. V, Sec. 1(A)] 



7 

 

 6.3 Nomination of Directors.  
 
  A. By Committee. The Nominations & Elections Committee shall compile a list of 

eligible GVR Members who are qualified to serve on the Board and have submitted a candidate 
application. The slate of candidates shall be made available to the GVR Membership at least 
ninety (90) days before the annual meeting. [Art. V, Sec. 2 and Art. II, Sec. 7(B)]. This provision was 
changed to clarify that the Committee’s duty is to produce a slate of candidates (not "directors") and that 
nominees must be eligible GVR Members which includes Owners and Assigned Members who are current 
in the payment of their dues and fees pursuant to Section 3.5(B). 

 
   B. By GVR Members. Additional nominations may be made by a nomination petition 

delivered to The Corporation no less than sixty (60) days before the annual meeting and which 
contains the signed consent of the nominee and the signatures of eligible GVR Members 
representing not less than two-hundred (200) GVR Properties. The names of nominees submitted 
through such a petition shall be added to the slate of candidates compiled by the Nominations 
and Elections Committee. 

 
  Provisions related to the election of directors (Art. V, Sec. 3 of the current Bylaws) was removed 

as the voting procedure for elections is the same as it is for any other matter. The provision related to 
“cumulative voting” was unnecessary, as A.R.S. §10-3725 states that cumulative voting is prohibited 
unless specifically authorized in the Bylaws.  

 
 6.4 Vacancies. Any vacancy on the Board created by the resignation, removal, or death of a 

director, shall be filled by the unsuccessful candidate of the last election, who received the 
greatest number of votes and is qualified and willing to serve. If none of said unsuccessful 
candidates is qualified and willing to serve, a majority of the remaining directors shall appoint a 
director to serve for the unexpired term of his/her predecessor. [Art. VI, Sec.1(F)].  

 
6.5 Compensation; GVR Employment. Directors shall not receive compensation for their 
services on the Board but may be reimbursed by The Corporation for authorized expenses and 
disbursements made on its behalf. Directors and members of their immediate families may not 
provide services to The Corporation in exchange for financial compensation except for ancillary 
services related to instruction or the arts. [Art. IV, Sec. 7 and 8]. This provision has been modified 
to allow directors and their family members to teach classes and provide entertainment at 
events.  
 
6.6 Powers. In addition to exercising all the powers of The Corporation as set forth in A.R.S. 
§10-3302 and GVR's Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation, the Board shall have the 
authority to do the following: 
    

    (1) Adopt rules and regulations governing the use of GVR's facilities and the personal 
conduct of all persons thereon which shall be published in the Corporate Policy Manual. 
 



8 

 

   (2) Adopt policies and procedures in order to carry out the provisions of these 
Amended and Restated Bylaws which shall be published in the Corporate Policy Manual. 

 
   (3) Declare a vacancy on the Board should any director miss three (3) regularly 

scheduled Board meetings in any twelve-month period without good cause.  
  
 [Art. VI, Sec. 1(B),(C), and (D)]. The phrase "without good cause" was added in subsection (3) to prevent 

the removal of directors who miss meetings due to health issues or other similar reasons.  

 
6.7 Limitations on Powers.  
 
 A. The following actions shall require the prior approval of a majority of GVR 
Members voting on the matter:  
 
  (1) A contract requiring an annual payment that exceeds ten percent (10%) of 
the annual budgets for that fiscal year; provided, however, that a vote on any such matter shall 
have a quorum requirement of twenty percent (20%); or  
 
  (2)   A change in services which would result in either an increase or decrease 
of five percent (5%) or more of the current operating budget; provided, however, that increases 
in services relating to new facilities provided by and at the expense of a developer or funded by 
existing reserves intended for such purposes shall not require the approval of GVR members. 
[Art. VI, Sec. 2 and Art. III, Sec. 3] 
 
 Subsection (1) was modified: "operating budget" was changed to "annual budgets" so as to 
include reserve budgets.  
 Subsection (2) was modified to resolve ambiguities and add an exception for services funded by 
existing reserves.  

  
 B. The following actions shall require the approval of a majority of directors in office: 
 
  (1) Appointing and removing the chief executive officer and fixing his/her 
compensation; 
 
  (2) Establishing the amount of admission fees, dues, and special assessments; 
or 
   
  (3) Adopting operating and capital budgets, which shall include a contribution 
to reserves. 
[Art. VI, Sec. 1(B)] 

 
 
 
 



9 

 

ARTICLE 7 
BOARD MEETINGS 

  
7.1  Regular Meetings. Regular meetings of the Board shall be held at least four (4) times per 
fiscal year and shall be fixed on a schedule determined by the Board and published to the GVR 
Membership. [Article IV, Sec. 2]. Publication of the schedule was added to provide notice to members.  

 
7.2 Special Meetings. Special meetings of the Board may be called by the President, the Vice 
President, or at the request of any two (2) directors. [Art. IV, Sec. 3] 
 
7.3 Notice of Meetings.  
 
 A. Regular Meetings. Regular meetings of the Board may be held without additional 
notice to directors or GVR Members.   
 
 B. Special Meetings. Written notice of the date, time and place of a special meeting 
shall be provided to each director at least two days prior to the meeting and if any portion of the 
meeting is to be open to GVR Members, such notice shall also be provided electronically to the 
GVR Membership.  
 
 C. Waiver of Notice. A director may waive any notice in writing before or after the 
date and time stated in the notice. A director's attendance at or participation in a meeting waives 
any required notice to the director of the meeting unless the director at the beginning of the 
meeting or promptly on the director's arrival at the meeting objects to holding the meeting or 
transacting business at the meeting and does not thereafter vote for or assent to action taken at 
the meeting. 
 
Notice provisions were added as required by A.R.S. §§10-3822 and 10-3823. 

 
7.4 Quorum. The presence, in person, by video conference, or by telephone conference, of a 
majority of the number of directors in office shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of 
business at a meeting.  Except as otherwise specified in these Amended and Restated Bylaws, the 
vote of a majority of directors present at any meeting at which a quorum is present shall be the 
act of the Board. [Art. IV, Sec. 4] 
 
7.5 Open Meetings. Meetings of the Board at which official business of The Corporation is 
transacted shall be open to GVR Members; provided, however, that the Board, at the discretion 
of the President, may hold a meeting or any portion thereof in executive session to address any 
of the following: 
 
 (1) Personnel matters; or 
 (2) Legal matters.  
[Art. IV, Sec. 5] 
 



10 

 

7.6 Conduct of Meetings. Roberts Rules of Order shall prevail unless otherwise determined 
by the Board. [Art. XII, Sec. 3] 

 
ARTICLE 8 

OFFICERS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER 
 

8.1 Enumeration of Officers. The officers of The Corporation shall be the President, Vice 
President, Secretary, Treasurer, Assistant Secretary and Assistant Treasurer, the sequence of 
which determines their seniority.  [Art. VII, Sec. 1]   
 
8.2 Election and Term. Within thirty (30) days after the annual meeting of the GVR 
Membership, the officers shall be elected from among the directors by a majority vote of the 
Board and each such officer shall serve, at the pleasure of the Board, for a term of one (1) year 
or until the successor is elected. [Art. VII, Sec. 2 and 3]  
 
8.3 Resignation and Removal; Vacancies. An officer may resign at any time by delivering 
notice to The Corporation and an officer may be removed from office by the Board at any time, 
with or without cause. An officer elected by the Board to fill a vacancy caused by resignation, 
removal or death shall serve for the unexpired term of his/her predecessor.  This provision was 
added in conformance with A.R.S. §10-3843. 

 
8.4  Duties of Officers. 
 
 A. President. The President shall preside at all meetings of the Board and at meetings 
of the GVR Membership and shall carry out all orders and resolutions of the Board and shall sign 
all formal written instruments such as notes, leases, mortgages, deeds, and contracts other than 
recurring operational contracts which the Board by appropriate resolution has exempted from 
this requirement.  Contracts signed by the President shall receive prior legal review and Board 
approval. In the absence of the President, the Vice President shall perform all the duties of the 
President.  Should the Vice President also be absent, the duties of the President shall be 
performed by the most senior officer present and when so acting, shall have all the powers of 
the President. 
 
 B. Vice President.  The Vice President shall carry out duties as assigned by the 
President.  In the absence of the President, the Vice President shall perform the duties of the 
President and, when so acting, shall have all the powers of the President. 
 
 C. Secretary.  The Secretary shall ensure that minutes are kept of meetings of the 
GVR Membership and the Board. The Secretary shall cause to be given all notices in accordance 
with provisions of these Amended and Restated Bylaws or as required by law. The Secretary shall 
see that all records of The Corporation are properly kept and preserved and that the names and 
addresses of all GVR members are on file in the office of The Corporation. In the absence of the 
Secretary, the Assistant Secretary shall perform all the duties of the Secretary. 
 



11 

 

 D. Treasurer.  The Treasurer shall exercise an oversight role of the financial affairs of 
The Corporation to ensure that financial records are kept in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting standards.  The Treasurer shall ensure that timely, accurate financial statements are 
presented to the Board and that the financial records of The Corporation are audited. In the 
absence of the Treasurer, the Assistant Treasurer shall perform all the duties of the Treasurer. 
[Art. VII, Sec. 4] 
 
8.5 Chief Executive Officer. The chief executive officer shall be accountable to the Board and 
shall serve as the chief operating officer of The Corporation responsible for the management of 
the day-to-day operations of GVR. The chief executive officer shall work cooperatively with the 
Board to ensure that GVR's policies are carried out effectively without exceeding the limits of 
authority delegated by the Board and shall ensure that operations are in conformance with these 
Amended and Restated Bylaws and the CPM. [Art. VII, Sec. 5] 
 
8.6 Signing of Checks. Any check in the amount of $2,500.00 or more shall be signed by two 
(2) officers of The Corporation or by one (1) officer and the chief executive officer. Any check in 
an amount of less than $2,500.00 may be signed by the CEO with the stipulation that a log is kept 
reflecting the two (2) department heads that reviewed the checks prior to its execution. Month-
end statements shall be reviewed by two (2) officers of The Corporation as soon as practicable 
after their completion. [Art. VII, Sec. 4(E)] 

 
ARTICLE 9 

COMMITTEES 
 

9.1 Standing Committees. The Board shall establish the following committees which shall 
make policy recommendations to the Board, and have such duties as set forth in the Corporate 
Policy Manual:  
 
 (1) Board Affairs; 
 (2) Fiscal Affairs; 
 (3) Nominations & Elections; 
 (4) Planning and Evaluation;  
 (5) Audit; and  
 (6) Investment. 
[Art. VIII, Sec. 1] 
 
9.2 Special Committees. The President may establish special or ad hoc committees to assume 
specific, short-term responsibilities. The duties and responsibilities of such committees shall be 
approved by the Board. [Art. VIII, Sec. 2(A)] 
 
9.3 Composition of Committees.  
  
 A. Chairperson. The chairperson of each committee shall be a director selected by 
the President subject to Board approval; provided, however, that the chairperson of the Audit 



12 

 

Committee shall not be an officer of The Corporation or a member of the Fiscal Affairs 
Committee. [Art. VIII, Sec. 2(B) and Sec. 3] 
 
 B. Members. Committee members shall be selected by the chairperson of the 
committee from among GVR Members and operations staff. The President shall be an ex-officio 
member of all committees except the Nominations & Elections and Audit Committees. [Art. VIII, 
Sec. 3] 
 
9.4 Subcommittees. Except for the Nominations & Elections and Audit Committees, each 
committee shall have the power to establish subcommittees and may delegate to such 
subcommittees any of its duties and powers. [Art. VIII, Sec. 4] 
 
9.5 Meetings. Meetings of committees and subcommittees shall be open to GVR Members 
at the discretion of each committee or subcommittee. [Art. VIII, Sec. 5] 
 

ARTICLE X 
MISCELLANEOUS 

 
10.1 Amendments.  
 
 A. Proposed by GVR Members. Amendments to these Amended and Restated Bylaws 
may be proposed by a petition containing the signatures of GVR Members representing at least 
ten percent (10%) of the total eligible votes in The Corporation submitted to the Secretary no 
less than sixty (60) days before the Annual or Special Meeting. Amendments proposed by GVR 
members shall be submitted to a vote of the GVR Membership within sixty (60) days of 
submission of such a petition. 
 
 B. Proposed by Board. The Board may propose amendments to these Amended and 
Restated Bylaws with the approval of two-thirds (2/3) of the directors in office.  
 
 C. Approval of Amendments. Any amendment to these Amended and Restated 
Bylaws shall be approved by GVR Members representing a majority of the total eligible votes in 
The Corporation or two-thirds (2/3) of those GVR Members voting on the matter, whichever is 
less.  
[Art. X] 
 
10.2  GVR Clubs. Any group of GVR Members interested in pursuing a particular field of inter-
est may join together for the purpose of pursuing such interest and may request that the Board 
grant them status as a GVR club. The Board shall establish the following: (i) policies and 
procedures for creating and revoking club status: and (ii) the rules and regulations governing the 
operation of GVR clubs. [Art. I, Sec. 4] 
 
 



13 

 

10.3 Fiscal Year. The fiscal year and GVR Membership year of The Corporation shall be January 1 
through December 31.  

 
10.4 Annual Audit. The financial records of The Corporation shall be audited following the 
close of each fiscal year by an independent auditing firm. [Art. I, Sec. 7] 
 
10.5 Records. The books, records and papers of The Corporation shall be available to GVR 
Members for inspection and copying pursuant to the provisions of A.R.S. §§10-11602 and 10-
11603. The current Bylaw provision (Art. XII, Sec. 2) is inconsistent with Arizona law. It has been changed 
to reference the applicable statutes.  

 
10.6 Conflict. In the event of any conflict between these Amended and Restated Bylaws and 
GVR's Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation, or between these Amended and Restated 
Bylaws and the Arizona Nonprofit Corporation Act (A.R.S. §10-3101, et seq.), the latter of the two 
shall control. In the event of any conflict between these Amended and Restated Bylaws and the 
Corporate Policy Manual, the former shall control. [Art. XII, Sec. 3]. This provision was changed to 
comply with A.R.S. §10-3206(B).   

   
10.7 Topical Headings. The topical headings of the paragraphs contained in these Amended 
and Restated Bylaws are for convenience only and do not define, limit or construe the content of 
the paragraphs or of this document. This provision was added. 



Green Valley Recreation, Inc. 

Board of Directors Meeting 
Prepared By: Kris Zubicki,  Meeting Date: 6/23/21 

 Director of Recreation Services 

Presented By: Nina Campfield  Consent Agenda: No 

 

Originating Committee/Department: Board Affairs Committee 

Action Requested:  
At their June 8 meeting, the Board Affairs Committee voted to authorize staff to rewrite the 
GVR Club EIN Number Policy based on updated IRS regulations, and for the staff 
recommendation to be presented to the Board of Directors. 
 
Legal counsel has reviewed the recommended changes. 

 
Strategic Plan Focus Area: 

Background Justification: 
The IRS changed the method to obtain an Employer Identification Number (EIN). The IRS now 
requires a contact name and information of a club representative. The IRS website states, “All 
EIN applications must disclose the name and Taxpayer Identification Number (SSN, TIN, or 
EIN) of the true principal officer, general partner, grantor, owner or trustor. This individual or 
entity, which the IRS will call the ‘responsible party,’ controls, manages, or directs the 
applicant entity and the disposition of its funds and assets. Unless the applicant is a 
government entity, the responsible party must be an individual (i.e., a natural person), not an 
entity.” 
 
The following section in GVR’s Corporate Policy Manual (CPM) should be updated to be in 
compliance with IRS regulations: 
 
Section VIII – GVR Programs / Clubs  
Subsection 2. GVR Clubs 

A. Organization 
9. If the Board approves the request for club status, the Club Liaison will file for an 

Employers Identification Number (EIN) on behalf of the club, if the club has not 
already filed for an EIN. 

 
Fiscal Impact: 
N/A, IRS tax code for GVR clubs 



Staff Recommended Motion: 
I move the Board approve the following change to the CPM verbiage located in Section VIII – 
GVR Programs/Clubs, Subsection 2. GVR Clubs, A. Organization, #9 
If the Board approves the request for club status the Club Liaison will notify the applicant so 
they will file for a club EIN number. file for an Employers Identification Number (EIN) on 
behalf of the club, if the club has not already filed for an EIN. 

Attachments: 
Excerpt from IRS.gov website 

 



Excerpt from IRS.GOV: 

 


	2 06232021 BOD Meeting Agenda
	4a 05262021 BOD Minutes - DRAFT
	4b 052021 Financials
	5a Staff Report - EC African Daisies  06232021
	5b1 Staff Report - Amended  Restated Bylaws 06232021
	5b2 2021 FINAL Amended and Restated Bylaws - Exhibit A
	5b3 2021 FINAL Annotated Amended and Restated Bylaws
	5c1 Staff Report - EIN Numbers - BOD 06232021
	5c2 Excerpt from IRS

